72069-4 72069-4

FILED
April 13, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 72069-4-I

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DEBORAH JEAN LJUNGHAMMAR,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MAUREEN M. CYR Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

## **

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The State did not prove the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.
- 2. The State violated Ms. Ljunghammar's constitutional right to silence by commenting on her exercise of her right to silence.
  - 3. The exceptional sentence is not statutorily authorized.
  - 4. The restitution order is not statutorily authorized.

### B. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

- 1. To prove the crime of first degree theft as charged, the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Ms.

  Ljunghammar "exerted unauthorized control over the property of Shelarose Ljunghammar." Did the State fail to meet its burden of proof where the State did not prove that Ms. Ljunghammar had "control" over Shelarose's property, or that the transfers of property were not "authorized" by Shelarose?
- 2. The State violates a criminal defendant's constitutional right to silence where the State comments in a criminal trial on the defendant's exercise of her right to silence. Did the State violate Ms. Ljunghammar's constitutional right to silence where Ms. Ljunghammar

had a right to silence, she exercised that right, and the State commented in her criminal trial on her decision to exercise the right?

- 3. A person convicted of theft as an accomplice may not receive an exceptional sentence based on the statutory aggravator that the crime was a "major economic offense" unless the jury finds that the defendant *knew* the crime was a major economic offense. Did the court err in imposing an exceptional sentence based on the major economic offense aggravator, where Ms. Ljunghammar was convicted as an accomplice and the jury was not instructed, nor did it find, that she knew the crime was a major economic offense?
- 4. A court's authority to order restitution in a criminal case is derived wholly from statute. Did the court err in ordering Ms.

  Ljunghammar to pay restitution jointly and severally with her codefendant, where the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) does not authorize a court to impose joint and several restitution?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Shelarose Ljunghammar is an elderly, widowed woman.

2/11/14RP 52; 2/12/14RP 4. She owned or co-owned several rental properties in the Seattle area, including an apartment complex.

2/11/14RP 51-52; 2/12/14RP 73. Shelarose did the bookkeeping for her rental properties. 2/11/14RP 46-47, 51-52.

Shelarose has four sons: Ralph, Keith, Daryl and Ivan.
2/11/14RP 46. The appellant, Deborah Ljunghammar, is Ivan's wife.

Ivan and Deborah began helping Shelarose with her bookkeeping around 2005. 2/11/14RP 56; 2/12/14RP 4-5, 44-45, 79. In addition, Ivan helped Shelarose to maintain her properties. 2/11/14RP 57; 2/12/14RP 21, 26, 81. She would pay him for his work. 2/12/14RP 22.

In July 2007, Shelarose executed a power of attorney naming Ivan as attorney in fact and Deborah as "alternate Attorney in fact." Exhibit 1. The power of attorney granted Ivan "all powers of an absolute owner over [Shelarose's] assets and liabilities," and granted him "all further powers as are necessary or desirable to provide for [Shelarose's] support, maintenance, emergencies, and urgent necessities." Exhibit 1 at 2. Deborah, as alternate attorney in fact, had no power to act in regard to Shelarose's property unless Ivan, as principal attorney in fact, was *unable or unwilling* to act. Exhibit 1; 2/12/14RP 132. There is no evidence that Deborah ever acted as "alternate Attorney in fact."

Attorney Charles Mullavey had represented Shelarose for many years. 2/12/14RP 108-09. He prepared the power of attorney on her behalf. 2/12/14RP 111. At the time, he had no questions or concerns regarding her mental capacity. 2/12/14RP 113, 120-26. He would never advise a client to execute a power of attorney if he thought she did not have the capacity to understand what she was signing. 2/12/14RP 121.

Mr. Mullavey met again with Shelarose, and her sons, in 2008 to discuss her estate planning. 2/12/14RP 109. Again Mr. Mullavey had no concerns about Shelarose's capacity. He said she understood the discussion and made her wishes clear. 2/12/14RP 109-10.

Over the next two to three years, several checks were written on Shelarose's bank accounts. Many were signed by Shelarose and some were signed by Ivan as attorney in fact. 2/18/14RP 156; 2/19/14RP 42; Exhibit 10. Many checks were written payable to Ivan, a few were written payable to Deborah, and some were written simply to "cash." Exhibit 5. The checks were written for varying amounts and for various purposes, as stated on the "memo" line of the check. Exhibit 5.

Shelarose purchased and signed a cashier's check for \$13,500, which was payable to Deborah. Exhibit 12. Deborah cashed the check

and deposited the money into her bank account. 2/19/14RP 5-6; Exhibit 13.

In addition, some money was withdrawn from Shelarose's bank accounts or transferred directly from Shelarose's accounts into Ivan and Deborah's accounts. 2/18/14RP 151-52; 2/19/14RP 13; Exhibit 5. The evidence does not show who actually made those transactions, whether Shelarose or Ivan.

Likewise, several charges were made on Shelarose's credit card for various purposes. The evidence does not show who made those charges. 2/18/14RP 33, 138-40; Exhibit 7.

Over time, Ralph and Daryl began to believe that Ivan and Deborah were trying to isolate Shelarose from the rest of the family. 2/11/14RP 72-76. They had noticed that Shelarose was having trouble remembering things and doing her bookkeeping. 2/11/14RP 55; 2/12/14RP 78. Ralph called Adult Protective Services (APS). 2/11/14RP 72-76; 2/12/14RP 103. Daryl called the police. 2/12/14RP 103.

An investigator from APS and a police detective together went to Shelarose's house to investigate. 2/13/14RP 41-45. Shelarose

appeared happy and fit but seemed confused about why they were there and quickly forgot when they told her. 2/13/14RP 45-46.

In 2010, a professional agency was appointed to be Shelarose's guardian. 2/18/14RP 112. The court order appointing the guardian specified that Ivan and Deborah were to provide an accounting to the guardian of financial transactions involving Shelarose's accounts during the time period that Ivan was attorney in fact. 2/13/14RP 108-10. When Ivan and Deborah did not provide the accounting, the guardian obtained a court order requiring them to provide the information, under threat of court sanction. 2/13/14RP 110; 2/18/14RP 104, 130. In particular, the guardian was seeking an explanation for transactions the guardian deemed questionable because they did not appear on their face to be for Shelarose's benefit. 2/13/14RP 125-26. Deborah and Ivan did not provide the information. 2/13/14RP 111-14; 2/18/14RP 128.

The guardian obtained records from the banks directly. 2/13/14RP 114, 117.

The court ordered the guardian to pursue the funds unaccounted for. 2/13/14RP 131. On the eve of trial in the guardianship proceeding, Ivan and the guardian agreed on a settlement of \$160,000.

2/13/14RP 131, 140. Ivan signed a confession of judgment for that amount. 2/13/14RP 132; Exhibit 6. Deborah never signed a confession of judgment.

The guardian then filed a petition requesting the court order Deborah to appear and show cause why she should not be held in contempt for failing to provide an accounting. CP 104.

Adult Protective Services shared its records of the investigation with the King County Prosecutor's Office. CP 112. The State charged both Ivan and Deborah, as co-defendants, with one count of first degree theft, alleging that, with an intent to deprive, they "did exert unauthorized control" over Shelarose's property. CP 87; RCW 9A.56.010(21)(c), .020(1)(a), and .030(1)(a). The State also alleged two statutory aggravating factors: (1) that the defendants knew the victim was particularly vulnerable or incapable of resistance and the victim's vulnerability was a substantial factor in the commission of the offense; and (2) that the crime was a "major economic offense." CP 87-88; RCW 9.94A.535(3)(b), (d).

Prior to trial, both Ivan and Deborah moved to preclude the State from presenting evidence or commenting on their exercise of their Fifth Amendment right to silence. CP 96-114; 2/04/14RP 94. Counsel

argued the defendants had a right to be silent in the face of the guardian's requests for information. CP 96-99, 100-14; 2/04/14RP 97-98; 2/11/14RP 28-29. The court denied the motion, ruling the defendants did not have a right to be silent during the guardianship proceeding. 2/11/14RP 32-33.

As a result, during the criminal trial, the State's witnesses testified that Ivan and Deborah repeatedly failed to provide an accounting when the guardian requested it. 2/13/14RP 108-14, 125-26; 2/18/14RP 104, 128-30. In addition, in opening statement and closing argument, over objection, the prosecutor commented at length about the defendants' refusal to provide an accounting despite repeated requests. 2/11/14RP 40-42; 2/20/14RP 54-55, 121-22, 127-34.

The jury found both defendants guilty of first degree theft as charged. CP 115. The jury answered "yes" on the special verdict form regarding the two aggravating factors. CP 116.

At sentencing, the court imposed an exceptional sentence upward based on the two aggravators. CP 118, 120.

At a later hearing, the court ordered Deborah to pay restitution in the amount of \$160,000, "joint and several" with Ivan. CP 174.

#### D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

## 1. The State did not prove the elements of first degree theft beyond a reasonable doubt

It is a fundamental rule of constitutional due process that the State must prove every element of a charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 477, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000); In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3.

To prove the charged crime of first degree theft, the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Deborah "exerted unauthorized control over the property of Shelarose" with an intent to deprive Shelarose of the property. CP 159; RCW 9A.56.020(1)(a). To "exert unauthorized control" means

having any property in one's possession, custody, or control, as attorney, or person authorized by agreement to take or hold such possession, custody, or control, to secrete, withhold, or appropriate the same to his or her own use or to the use of any person other than the true owner or person entitled thereto.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, the question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979); <u>State v. Green</u>, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

CP 154; RCW 9A.56.010(22)(b); see State v. Greathouse, 113 Wn. App. 889, 905, 56 P.3d 569 (2002) ("exerts unauthorized control" means "that one who holds possession, custody or control of property of another by virtue of a position of trust (such as that of attorney, agent or employee) violates that trust by converting the property to his or her own use or the use of any person other than the true owner or person entitled thereto"). The "exerts unauthorized control" theft alternative includes what was referred to as "embezzlement" under prior law. Greathouse, 113 Wn. App. at 907.

The State did not prove Deborah was guilty of theft as a principal because it presented no evidence to show that she had "possession, custody, or control" of Shelarose's property. Deborah did not sign any of the checks written on Shelarose's accounts. There is no evidence that she withdrew or transferred any money from Shelarose's accounts or ever used her credit card. Deborah was named "alternate Attorney in fact" in the power of attorney document, Exhibit 1, but there is no evidence that she ever exercised that authority. Although witnesses testified that Deborah helped Shelarose with her bookkeeping, that is not enough to prove that she had "possession,"

custody, or control" of Shelarose's money. 2/11/14RP 56; 2/12/14RP 4-5, 44-45, 79.

The State also did not prove that Deborah was guilty as an accomplice to theft because it did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the transfers of money were not authorized by Shelarose.

Shelarose plainly wanted Ivan to have control over her finances—she designated him as her attorney in fact in the power of attorney document. Exhibit 1. There is no question that Shelarose was competent and capable, and knew what she was doing, when she executed the document. 2/12/14RP 113, 120-26. She was competent and lucid one year later when she met with her attorney to discuss her estate planning. 2/12/14RP 109-10; 2/13/14RP 3. In fact, Shelarose was not deemed to be *in*competent until the guardian was appointed in 2010, after the charging period in this case. 2/13/14RP 103.

Shelarose signed many of the checks that the State relied upon to prove the theft, suggesting that she authorized the payments.

2/18/14RP 156; 2/19/14RP 42; Exhibit 10, 12. The State did not prove who withdrew or transferred the money from Shelarose's accounts or used her credit card, whether it was Shelarose herself or Ivan acting as attorney in fact. 2/18/14RP 33, 138-40, 151-52; 2/19/14RP 13; Exhibit

5, 7. But even if Ivan performed those actions, the State did not prove they were not authorized by Shelarose. A person designated attorney in fact in a power of attorney document may make gifts to himself or others if authorized to do so by the principal. <u>In re Estate of Lennon</u>, 108 Wn. App. 167, 183, 29 P.3d 1258 (2001).

There is no evidence that Shelarose did not authorize Ivan to make the money transfers. The State may not rely upon speculation to prove this essential fact. State v. Colquitt, 133 Wn. App. 789, 796, 137 P.3d 892 (2006). In sum, the evidence was not sufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Deborah was guilty of theft either as a principal or an accomplice.

2. The State violated Ms. Ljunghammar's constitutional right to silence by urging the jury to view her decision to exercise her right to silence as evidence of guilt

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that "[n]o person ... shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself." Article I, section 9 of the Washington Constitution similarly states that "[n]o person shall be compelled in any criminal case to give evidence against himself." Both provisions guarantee a defendant the right to be free from self-incrimination, including the right to silence. State v. Knapp, 148 Wn. App. 414, 420,

199 P.3d 505 (2009). The Court interprets the two provisions similarly, and liberally construes the right against self-incrimination. State v. Easter, 130 Wn.2d 228, 236, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996).

The right to silence exists prior to arrest. <u>Id</u>. at 241. The purpose of the right is to place the burden of producing evidence squarely on the State and "'to spare the accused from having to reveal, directly or indirectly, his knowledge of facts relating him to the offense or from having to share his thoughts and beliefs with the Government.'" <u>Id</u>. (quoting <u>Doe v. United States</u>, 487 U.S. 201, 213, 108 S. Ct. 2341, 101 L. Ed. 2d 184 (1988)). This policy supports applying the right liberally to pre-arrest silence. <u>Id</u>.

"[W]hen the State invites the jury to infer guilt from the invocation of the right to silence, the Fifth Amendment and article I, section 9 are violated." State v. Burke, 163 Wn.2d 204, 217, 181 P.3d 1 (2008). If the State uses an accused's exercise of the right to silence as evidence of guilt, the accused has effectively lost the right. Id. at 238. Moreover, the use of silence as evidence of guilt is improper because the defendant may be forced to testify to rebut such an inference. Id. at 217-18.

At the same time, an accused's silence is of little evidentiary value because it is "insolubly ambiguous." <u>Easter</u>, 130 Wn.2d at 238. Silence is ambiguous because an innocent person may have many reasons for not speaking. <u>Burke</u>, 163 Wn.2d at 218-19. Possible reasons include a person's awareness that she is under no obligation to speak or the natural caution that arises from her knowledge that anything she says might be used later against her at trial; a belief that efforts at exoneration would be futile; or because of explicit instructions not to speak from an attorney. <u>Id</u>.

Here, Deborah's constitutional right to silence was violated because (1) she had a right to be silent in response to the guardian's—and the court's—demands that she provide financial information, where potential criminal charges were looming; (2) she exercised her right by refusing to provide the information; and (3) the State repeatedly invited the jury to conclude that her silence implied she was guilty.

a. Deborah had a constitutional right to be silent in the guardianship proceeding

It is well-established that the constitutional protection against self-incrimination includes the right of an individual not to be compelled to give incriminating answers in any proceeding, whether "civil or criminal, administrative or judicial, investigatory or adjudicatory." <u>Kastigar v. United States</u>, 406 U.S. 441, 444-45, 92 S. Ct. 1653, 32 L. Ed. 2d 212 (1972). The Fifth Amendment

not only protects the individual against being involuntarily called as a witness against himself in a criminal prosecution but also privileges him not to answer official questions put to him in any other proceeding, civil or criminal, formal or informal, where the answers might incriminate him in future criminal proceedings.

Lefkowitz v. Turley, 414 U.S. 70, 77, 94 S. Ct. 316, 38 L. Ed. 2d 274 (1973). The privilege against self-incrimination "is an exception to the general principle that the Government has the right to everyone's testimony." Garner v. United States, 424 U.S. 648, 658 n.11, 96 S. Ct. 1178, 47 L. Ed. 2d 370 (1976).

The right against self-incrimination protects against any disclosures that the witness reasonably believes could be used in a criminal prosecution or could lead to other evidence that might be so used. Kastigar, 406 U.S. at 444-45. The answer need only furnish a link in the chain of evidence needed to prosecute the witness for a crime in order to be incriminating under the Fifth Amendment.

Hoffman v. United States, 341 U.S. 479, 486, 71 S. Ct. 814, 95 L. Ed. 1118 (1951).

Thus, a person may refuse to answer questions posed during an official investigation of a civil matter, if it is possible that the investigation will lead to a criminal prosecution. E.g., Mathis v. United States, 391 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1503, 20 L. Ed. 2d 381 (1968); State v. Nason, 96 Wn. App. 686, 981 P.2d 866 (1999). In Mathis, for instance, a government agent obtained documents and oral statements from Mathis while conducting a tax investigation for the purpose of a civil action. Mathis, 391 U.S. at 2. That evidence was later used against Mathis in a criminal prosecution, resulting in his conviction for knowingly filing false claims against the government. Id. The United States Supreme Court held that because "tax investigations frequently lead to criminal prosecutions," Mathis had a Fifth Amendment right to refuse to answer the tax investigator's questions. Id. at 4.

Similarly, in Nason, a CPS investigator investigating allegations of child abuse for the purpose of a civil dependency action interviewed Nason and then reported Nason's incriminating statements to law enforcement, leading to Nason's criminal conviction for child assault.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court held that because Mathis was questioned while he was in custody serving a sentence on an unrelated matter, the tax investigator was required to advise him prior to questioning of his right to silence pursuant to Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966). Mathis, 391 U.S. at 5.

Nason, 96 Wn. App. at 693. The Court held Nason had a constitutional right not to answer the investigator's questions even though the purpose of the investigation was for a civil proceeding, due to the possibility of criminal prosecution. Id. at 694. Because the investigator was required to disclose incriminating information to law enforcement, he was not acting on Nason's behalf but was instead a State agent who "owed his allegiance to the State." Id.; see also Estelle v. Smith, 451 U.S. 454, 467-68, 101 S. Ct. 1866, 68 L. Ed. 2d 359 (1981) (Smith had constitutional right not to answer questions put to him by psychiatrist who interviewed him for purpose of determining his competency to stand trial, where Smith's statements to psychiatrist were later used against him at penalty phase of trial).

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