NO. 72067-8-1

S

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

IVAN DANIEL LJUNGHAMMAR and DEBORAH JEAN LJUNGHAMMAR,

Appellants.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY A. BRADSHAW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

SCOTT A. PETERSON Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9000

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- A. The evidence at trial was sufficient to support appellants' theft convictions because it proved that Ivan Ljunghammar exceeded the scope of his authority over the victim's money as provided by the power of attorney and that Deborah Ljunghammar assisted him in making that unauthorized use.
- B. Appellants' Fifth Amendment rights were not violated by evidence and argument that they failed to provide financial records or an accounting to the victim's guardian because the guardian was not a state actor and because neither appellant asserted their right to remain silent.
- C. The trial court did not err in denying appellant Ivan Ljunghammar's motion for a mistrial for violation of his right to remain silent after the state argued in closing that appellants had failed to provide financial records or an accounting to the guardian because the comments did not implicate appellant's rights under the Fifth Amendment.

- D. The exceptional sentences imposed should not be reversed on the ground that one of the two grounds for the sentence was improper because the second ground was proper and the court expressly found that either ground would support its sentence.
- E. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it ordered the appellants' restitution obligations to be joint and several because appellants acted and benefitted equally as accomplices in committing their crime.

IV. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE.

The test for determining the sufficiency of the evidence is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Green</u>, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). When the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged in a criminal case, all reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant. <u>State v. Partin</u>, 88 Wn.2d 899, 906-07, 567 P.2d 1136 (1977). A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom. <u>State v. Theroff</u>, 25 Wn. App. 590, 593, 608 P.2d 1254, aff'd, 95 Wn.2d 385, 622 P.2d 1240 (1980).

This inquiry does not require the reviewing court to determine whether it believes the evidence at trial established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. "Instead the relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt."

<u>State v. Green</u>, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628, 632 (1980)

(citations omitted). Where evidence is conflicting or of such a

character that reasonable minds may differ it is the province of the

jury to weigh the evidence, determine the credibility of witnesses,

and decide the disputed questions of fact. State v. Gerber, 28 Wn.

App. 214, 216-17, 622 P.2d 888 (1981).

Both Ivan and Deborah claim that the evidence was

insufficient to prove they exerted unauthorized control over

Shelarose's property because Shelarose gave Ivan power of

attorney and because the State did not prove that Shelarose did not

authorize their takings. Exerts unauthorized control means:

Having any property or services in one's possession, custody or control as . . . attorney . . . or person authorized by agreement or competent authority to take or hold such possession, custody, or control, to secrete, withhold, or appropriate the same to his or her own use or to the use of any person other than the true owner or person entitled thereto; RCW 9A.56.010(22)(b). The court gave the jury an instruction drawn from this statute. CP 154.

Here, the evidence was sufficient for a rational trier of fact to find beyond a reasonable doubt that appellants' takings were unauthorized. The power of attorney Shelarose gave Ivan limited his authority over her property by prohibiting self-dealing and allowing gifts only in amounts that were consistent with her accustomed manner of giving. The evidence proved that Shelarose had made only small gifts of cash and property to her sons on special occasions in the past. By giving Ivan power of attorney Shelarose expressly prohibited loans and gifts to Ivan and Deborah in the amounts they took from her. Finally, Ivan signed a confession of judgement in the guardianship proceeding in which he admitted he made unauthorized use of Shelarose's money.

Deborah Ljunghammar also argues that the evidence was insufficient to find that she exerted unauthorized control over Shelarose's property. However, Deborah and Ivan were charged as accomplices and evidence of Deborah's complicity was strong. A person is an accomplice in the commission of a crime if, with knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime, he or she either:

- 12 -

(1) solicits, commands, encourages, or requests another person to commit the crime; or

(2) aids or agrees to aid another person in planning or committing the crime.

RCW 9A.08.020. The court also gave the jury an instruction on accomplice liability taken from this statute. CP 151.

Ralph, Daryl, and Kerie saw Deborah helping Shelarose with her books and writing checks from Shelarose's check book. The checks in evidence appear to have been written by Deborah for Shelarose's signature. Both Ivan and Deborah isolated Shelarose from Ralph, Keith, Daryl, and their families. Ivan and Deborah told Det. St. John that "they" had power of attorney and Deborah showed Det. St. John a copy of the power of attorney she kept on her person. Deborah deposited the cashier's check for \$13,500 purchased from a certificate of deposit owned by Shelarose to her joint account with Ivan that was made payable to and endorsed by Deborah. This and other evidence at trial was more than sufficient for the jury to find Deborah guilty as an accomplice.

- 13 -

B. APPELLANTS' FIFTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

A defendant's pre-arrest silence in response to police questioning may not be used as evidence of a defendant's guilt. <u>State v. Easter</u>, 130 Wn.2d 228, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996); <u>State v.</u> <u>Lewis</u>, 130 Wn.2d 700, 927 P.2d 235 (1996); <u>State v. Burke</u>, 163 Wn.2d 204, 181 P.3d 1 (2008). This rule was expanded in <u>State v.</u> <u>Nason</u>, 96 Wn. App. 686, 981 P.2d 866 (1999), to include statements made to a CPS employee investigating allegations of child abuse. The issue raised by appellants is whether this rule should be expanded further to exclude testimony by a guardian that a defendant failed to provide court-ordered financial documents in a guardianship proceeding.

The Fifth Amendment is applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. <u>Griffin v. California</u>, 380 U.S. 609 (1965); <u>State v. Lewis</u>, 130 Wn.2d 700, 705, 927 P.2d 235, 237 (1996). The Fourteenth Amendment prohibits state action. <u>Shelley v. Kraemer</u>, 334 U.S. 1 (1947); <u>State v. Myers</u>, 6 Wn. App. 557, 566, 494 P.2d 1015, 1020 (1972). There is no constitutional prohibition against the use at trial of evidence or information obtained by a private citizen, even by unlawful means, unless the actions of the private citizen were in some way "instigated, encouraged,

counseled, directed, or controlled" by the state or its officers. <u>State</u> <u>v. Agee</u>, 15 Wn. App. 709, 713-14, 552 P.2d 1084, 1087 (1976); <u>State v. Gonzales</u>, 24 Wn. App. 437, 440, 604 P.2d 168, 170 (1979), <u>review denied</u>, 93 Wn.2d 1028 (1980). The exclusionary rule does not apply to the acts of private individuals. <u>State v.</u> <u>Wolken</u>, 103 Wn.2d 823, 830, 700 P.2d 319 (1985); <u>State v. Smith</u>, 110 Wn.2d 658, 666, 756 P.2d 722, 727 (1988).

Appellants cite a number of federal cases to support their claim that it should. However, each of the cases they cite involve either compelled testimony or testimony about a defendant's silence by government agents. <u>Kastigar v. United States</u>, 406 U.S. 441 (1972), addressed the scope of immunity granted to a witness subpoenaed to testify before a grand jury. <u>Lefkowiz v. Turley</u>, 414 U.S. 70 (1973), addressed a statute requiring government contractors to waive immunity and testify before a grand jury. <u>Mathis v. United States</u>, 391 U.S. 1 (1968), involved an IRS agent questioning an incarcerated defendant. <u>Estelle v. Smith</u>, 451 U.S. 454 (1981), involved a court-ordered psychiatric examination.

The State's research has unearthed no Washington State cases directly on point but several reported cases are instructive:

<u>see e.g.</u>, <u>State v. Valpredo</u>, 75 Wn.2d 368, 450 P.2d 979 (1969) (private retail store security guards who apprehend suspects and gather evidence are not state agents); <u>State v. Gonzales</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 441 (statutes limiting shop owner liability for the reasonable detention of suspected shoplifters do not transform owners and their employees from private citizens to state agents); <u>and State v.</u> <u>Wolfe</u>, 5 Wn. App. 153, 486 P.2d 1143 (1971), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 80 Wn.2d 1002 (1972) (search of luggage by an airline carrier's employee is ordinarily a private action outside the scope of the Fourth Amendment).

Moreover, the burden is on the defense to show that a private citizen acted as an agent of the state before the citizen's acts can be characterized as state action:

> Unless evidence is adduced that the individual was acting as an agent of or in concert with governmental authorities, the Fourth Amendment prohibitions are inapplicable. Thus, the burden is on the defendant to present evidence that indicates collusion between the citizen informant and the police. Failing this, we must conclude that no collusion existed.

<u>State v. Dold</u>, 44 Wn. App. 519, 523, 722 P.2d 1353, 1356 (1986) (citations omitted).

Ms. Newland is a private citizen employed by a non-profit guardianship agency and is not a state agent. Appellants point to

no evidence that Ms. Newland was acting as an agent of the police. They have produced no authority for the proposition that the holdings in <u>Easter</u>, <u>Lewis</u>, <u>Burke</u>, and <u>Nason</u> extend to private citizens testifying that a defendant failed to provide documents in a civil matter. Their claim is without merit.

Even if Ms. Newland could be characterized as a state agent merely by her association with the courts appellants' claim fails because they failed to invoke their right to remain silent. In <u>Salinas</u> <u>v. Texas</u>, 133 S. Ct. 2174 (2013), the defendant was not in custody and did not receive <u>Miranda</u> warnings but voluntarily answered questions by police except one to which he remained silent. On appeal the defendant claimed that the prosecutor's comments during closing argument on his pre-arrest silence in response to the question violated his right to remain silent under the Fifth Amendment. In rejecting his claim the court held:

Petitioner's Fifth Amendment claim fails because he did not expressly invoke the privilege against self-incrimination in response to the officer's question. It has long been settled that the privilege "generally is not self-executing" and that a witness who desires its protection " 'must claim it.' "<u>Minnesota v. Murphy</u>, 465 U.S. 420, 425, 427, 104 S.Ct. 1136, 79 L.Ed.2d 409 (1984) (quoting <u>United States v. Monia</u>, 317 U.S. 424, 427, 63 S.Ct. 409, 87 L.Ed. 376 (1943)). Although "no ritualistic formula is necessary in order to invoke the privilege," Quinn v. United States, 349 U.S. 155, 164,

1511-3 Ljunghammar COA

75 S.Ct. 668, 99 L.Ed. 964 (1955), a witness does not do so by simply standing mute. Because petitioner was required to assert the privilege in order to benefit from it, the judgment of the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals rejecting petitioner's Fifth Amendment claim is affirmed.

Id. at 2178. The state constitution contains a similar provision to the Fifth Amendment that "(n)o person shall be compelled in any criminal case to give evidence against himself . . ." Const. art. I, § 9. Washington courts have held that the two provisions should be given the same interpretation. <u>State v. Foster</u>, 91 Wn.2d 466, 473, 589 P.2d 789, 794-95 (1979); <u>State v. Mecca Twin Theater and Film Exchange, Inc.</u>, 82 Wn.2d 87, 507 P.2d 1165 (1973). The protection of article I, section 9 is co-extensive with, not broader than, the protection of the Fifth Amendment. <u>State v. Earls</u>, 116 Wn.2d 364, 374-75, 805 P.2d 211, 216 (1991); <u>State v. Moore</u>, 79 Wn.2d 51, 483 P.2d 630 (1971).

Neither Ivan nor Deborah told the guardian that they wanted to remain silent. They merely failed to produce financial documents and an accounting to the guardian despite a court order and multiple opportunities to do so. In fact, Ivan Ljunghammar's acts in producing some useless bank records and showing Det. St. John more records stored in Shelarose's basement strongly imply that he did not assert his right to remain silent. Like the defendant in <u>Salinas</u>, appellants' decisions to remain mute in the face of requests for information was not sufficient to invoke their right to remain silent under the Fifth Amendment. Their argument that the State's comments during closing argument about their failure to provide information to the guardian violated their right to remain silent under the Fifth Amendment is without merit.

C. APPELLANT IVAN LJUNGHAMMAR'S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL.

Appellant Ivan Ljunghammar argues that the trial court erred when it denied his motion for a mistrial during the State's closing argument. He claims that the State "invited the jury to infer guilt based on Ivan's exercise of a constitutionally protected right" Brief of Appellant Ivan Ljunghammar, p. 23. However, as discussed in part B. above, evidence of Ivan's failure to provide an accounting or relevant financial records to the guardian was not protected by either the federal or state constitutions. The court properly denied his motion for a mistrial.

D. THE EXCEPTIONAL SENTENCES.

Appellants next claim their exceptional sentences should be reversed under <u>State v. Hayes</u>, 182 Wn.2d 556, 342 P.3d 1144 (2015), because the trial court based their sentences in part on the major economic offense factors when they were charged as accomplices and the jury was not instructed to find that they each had knowledge of the major economic offense factors. However, Judge Bradshaw also based his sentences on the "vulnerable victim" factor found by the jury and found that either factor was sufficient to support his exceptional sentences. When a sentencing court relies on an improper aggravating factor in support of an exceptional sentence the sentence will be upheld if the court also found a proper aggravating factor and expressly stated that each of the factors would support the exceptional sentence. <u>State v.</u> <u>Burkins</u>, 94 Wn. App. 677, 973 P.2d 15, <u>rev. denied</u>, 138 Wn.2d 1014, 989 P.2d 1142 (1999).

Appellants attempt to circumvent the rule in <u>Burkins</u> by labeling the language in the findings and conclusions signed by Judge Bradshaw "boilerplate." But appellants failed to object to the court's findings and counsel for Ivan stated that the judgment and sentence accurately reflected the court's sentence. 5/23/14 RP

- 20 -

33-34. In his remarks prior to imposing sentence Judge Bradshaw made the following observation about appellants' crime against Shelarose:

What is not agreed here is the extent and consistent intent of the abuse. But what was proved beyond a reasonable doubt was the taking advantage of an infirm person, who is infirm by their age and their dementia. And why? For money. For greed. That crime is repugnant. It's been said that you can tell a lot about a society based on how we treat those at the dawn of life and the dusk of, [sic] because they are vulnerable and need help

5/23/14 RP 24-25. Judge Bradshaw's comments show that he would have imposed the same exceptional sentences based on Shelarose's vulnerability even if the jury had not found the major economic offense aggravator. The record does not support appellants' claim.

E. THE RESTITUTION ORDERS.

The standard of review for a restitution order is abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Dedonado</u>, 99 Wn. App. 251, 255-56, 991 P.2d 1216 (2000). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. <u>State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker</u>, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971). Although the authority to impose

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